Ox 7 Wapp

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ARRICES MERRIWEATHER,)
Petitioner,)
vs.) CASE NO. 79,572
STATE OF FLGRIDA,)
Respondent.)

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

DAVID P. GAULDIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLA. BAR NO. 261580
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record proper shall be referred to by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number. The transcripts shall be referred to by the letter "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed October 3, 1990, Petitioner was charged with one count of the possession of cocaine with the intent to sell on or between September 12-13, 1990. (R-7). An amended information was filed on October 23, 1990, but sworn-to by the prosecutor on January 9, 1991. (R-17-18; T-77-78). Count I became a conspiracy count, and the original count became Count 11. (R-17-18). The conspiracy count was subsequently dismissed by the prosecution. (T-53-54),

Petitioner proceeded to jury trial and on January 10, 1991, was found guilty of possession of cocaine with intent to sell. (R-23).

On February 20, 1991, Petitioner was sentenced as an habitual violent felony offender to twenty years in prison with a minimum five year mandatory term and credit for 161 days in jail. (R-45-46).

Notice of appeal was timely filed on February 28, 1991. (R-58).

On February 25, 1992, the Florida First District Court of Appeal issued its (written) opinion affirming Petitioner's conviction and sentence as an habitual violent felony offender, and certifying to this Court the following question of great public importance:

WHETHER THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PROVISIONS OF SUBSECTION 775.084(1)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), VIOLATES CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS CONCERNING DUE PROCESS, DOUBLE JEOPARDY, OR EX POST FACTO LAWS.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jacksonville Sheriff's Office Detective Wilbur Pugh was working a "buy bust operation" with Detective Kim Varner during the evening of September 12 and morning of September 13, 1990. (T-102-103). Both were dressed in street clothes, and with Varner driving the pick-up truck that they were in, they went to the intersection of Florida Avenue and Pippen Street in the VanBuren area. (T-103).

A man later identified to the detectives as "Mr. Pickett" flagged them down, and asked them what they wanted. Pugh told them that they wanted a "twenty," which in drug parlance meant to Pugh twenty dollars worth of cocaine. (T-105-106).

Pickett told them to hold on or something like that, and then yelled to someone across the street that "he wants a 20." (T-106).

At this point, Varner saw Petitioner walking up the street, who yelled **over** to the first person standing on the corner ". . . to get the dope." (T-122). This third person (Roberson) walked over to a telephone pole, reached around the bottom of the pole, picked something **up**, and handed it to Petitioner. (T-123). Petitioner started walking towards the detectives' car. Varner watched the man's hand and did not see him put the object into either a pocket or the other hand. (T-125). Petitioner got right up to their vehicle, **and** when he opened his hand, Varner saw what he believed to be one piece of crack (cocaine) in a clear baggie. (T-125).

During this entire period of time, Pickett remained around their vehicle, and talked to Varner while the man (Roberson) was walking over to the telephone pole and removing whatever he removed from it. (T-125).

At this point, Varner saw two police cars (not part of the buy-bust operation) and he warned Pickett and Petitioner.

(T-128). Varner called for take-down units to come arrest Appellant. (T-128).

Petitioner walked away, and about 12 feet behind the detectives' vehicle dropped the baggie on the ground. (T-129).

Varner grabbed Picket, another detective grabbed

Petitioner, and Detective Richardson retrieved the baggie,

after being told of its whereabouts by Varner. (T-130).

Varner paid more attention to Pickett and Petitioner than the

bag once it was dropped, so he didn't have his eyes on it

during this period. (T-146).

The bag contained 11 pieces of crack cocaine and crumbs.

The cocaine weighed 12.1 grams, (T-167).

Over the objections of defense counsel, Varner was allowed to testify that the number of loose pieces of crack cocaine found in the bag meant to him that it was held for sale, not just personal use. (T-131-134).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner was illegally sentenced as an habitual <u>violent</u> felony offender, even though he was <u>not</u> convicted of a violent felony in this case.

This was error because it violates Petitioner's right to due process and to be sentenced by a statute which achieves a rational purpose, violates his right to be free from double jeopardy (as he was twice punished for his previous violent felony), and violates his right not to be punished ex post facto (his violent felony was committed prior to the enactment of the habitual violent felony statute).

These issues are also pending in other cases before this Court. These cases are noted in the body of this brief.

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE:

WHETHER THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PROVISIONS OF SUBSECTION 775.084(1)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), VIOLATES CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS CONCERNING DUE PROCESS, DOUBLE JEOPARDY, OR EX POST FACTO LAWS.

In <u>Perkins v. State</u>, **583** So.2d 1103 (Fla. **lst** DCA 1991), the Florida First District Court of Appeal found this statute constitutional. In <u>Perkins v. State</u>, **590 So.2d** 421 (Fla. **1991)**, Case Number **78,613**, this Court agreed to consider the constitutionality of the statute (but postponed its decision on jurisdiction).

In <u>Tillman v. State</u>, Case Number **78,715**, this Court **is** presently considering the following certified questions:

- 1. DOES IT VIOLATE A DEFENDANT'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN HE IS CLASSIFIED AS A VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084, AND THEREBY SUBJECTED TO AN EXTENDED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT, IF HE HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF AN ENUMERATED FELONY WITHIN THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS, EVEN THROUGH HIS PRESENT OFFENSE IS A NONVIOLENT FELONY?
- 2. DOES SECTION 775.084(1)(b) VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY BY INCREASING A DEFENDANT'S PUNISHMENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF A PRIOR OFFENSE?

Essentially, the questions being considered in <u>Perkins</u> and <u>Tillman</u> are encompassed in the certified question in this **case** and Petitioner's circumstance. <u>See also Simmons v. State</u>, 17 FLW D1013 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Petitioner was sentenced as an habitual violent felony offender even though he had been convicted of a non-violent felony. At the **very** least, this

violates Petitioner's rights to Due Process and the prohibition of Double Jeopardy.

<u>DUE PROCESS</u>: If a construction of the statute which does not require the instant offense to be an enumerated offense is approved, the habitual violent felony provisions fail the due process test of "a reasonable and substantial relationship to the objects sought to be obtained." <u>See State v. Saiez</u>, 489 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1986) and <u>State v. Barquet</u>, 262 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972).

The label "habitual violent felony offender" purports to enhance the punishment of those who habitually commit violent felonies, Section 775.084(1)(b), Fla.Stat. This is the object that the statute seeks to obtain. However, as applied by the sentencing judge and the appellate court, the statute does not require the current offense to be one of the eleven enumerated violent felonies.

Here, the sentencing judge relied upon one violent <u>prior</u> felony (strong-arm robbery, R-51) plus the present, non-violent felony of possession of cocaine with the intent to sell or deliver. This record does not present a continued pattern of violent crime or an escalation of violent crime; quite the opposite, in fact. Petitioner went from a violent crime to a non-violent crime, a de-escalating pattern from violent, personal crimes, to non-violent, non-personal crimes (which, under the guidelines, might be an entitlement to a downward departure).

Petitioner's case, however, does not begin to scratch the absurd limits to which the statute can be extended under the lower court's interpretation. For instance, a defendant may be convicted of attempted aggravated assault—a misdemeanor—in 1986, then could be sentenced to 30 years with a 10-year mandatory minimum term in 1991 as an habitual violent felony offender for dealing in stolen property. Thus, despite its objective as expressed four times in the statute's use of the term "habitual violent felony offender," the only "habit" this construction of the statute punishes is crime, not necessarily felonious crime, and certainly not habitual violent felonious crime.

This scenario is not the mere musings of a an ethereal legal theorist. The First District Court of Appeal rejected a similar due process argument in Ross v. State, 579 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev. pending, Fla.Sup.Ct. Case Number 78,179. There, the court held that, "(i]n our view, just as the state is justified in punishing a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender, its even more severe treatment of a recidivist who has exhibited a propensity toward violence is also reasonable." Id. at 878.

Petitioner has no quarrel with this proposition, except that the court's use of the ward "propensity" does reflect the showing required for habitual violent felon enhancement.

Propensity connotes tendency or inclination. If the habitual violent provisions required that the state establish commission

of two prior violent felonies, a propensity <u>might</u> be shown.

However, a single, perhaps random, act of violence does not fit within the common understanding of the word, In a guideline departure case, Judge Cowart of the Fifth District Court of Appeal has noted:

If the term "pattern" is not carefully defined by reference to objective criteria, looking for a "pattern" in a defendant's criminal record is like looking for a pattern or figure in the moon, or in the clouds or in the Rorschach test or in tea leaves or in sheep entrails—the process is highly subjective and the result is in the eye of the beholder. One sees largely what one wants to see. Those who do not like guideline sentencing can always say, "I spy a pattern and two offenses show continuous and persistent conduct!"

<u>Lipscomb v. State</u>, **573 So.2d 429**, **436 (Fla.** 5th DCA), <u>rev.</u>

<u>dismissed</u>, **581** So.2d 1309 (1991) (Cowart, J., dissenting). The manner in which the <u>Ross</u> court puts the word to "propensity" to use sparks the same concern. By any objective measure, one violent offense does not establish a propensity. Moreover, the expressed legislative intent is to punish <u>habitual violent</u> conduct, not merely a loosely defined propensity. The failure

leven two points on a curve do not describe it, and hence do not a pattern necessarily make. Take for instance two collinear points. These two points could lie on a straight curve (i.e., a straight line) or on the opposite sides of, say, a parabola. The function defining a parabola (y=x-squared, for instance) is quite different than the function describing a straight line (y=mx + b). The point is, a mere two prior points do not necessarily imply a linear relationship (although they may appear to do so initially), nor can it definitely be said that a pattern can be discerned from merely two points.

of the contested provisions to reasonably and substantially relate to this purpose renders its application a violation of due process of law.

DOUBLE JEOPARDY:

The state and federal constitutions both forbid twice placing a defendant in jeopardy for the same offense. U.S. Const., amend, V. Fla.Const., art. 1, s.9. The First District Court of Appeal has noted that the violent felony provisions of the amended habitual offender statute implicate constitutional protections. Henderson v. State, 569 So.2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The fixation of the habitual violent felony provisions on prior offenses renders application of this statute to Petitioner a violation of these constitutional protections.

To punish a defendant as an habitual violent felony offender, the state need only show that he has one prior offense within the past five years for a violent felony enumerated within the statute. The current offense need meet no criteria, other than that it be a felony committed within five years of commission, conviction, or conclusion of punishment for the prior "violent" offense. Analysis of the construction of this statute and its potential uses leads to an inescapable conclusion: That the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little (or really, no) heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony. The almost exclusive focus on this prior offense renders the use of the statute a second punishment for that offense,

violating state and federal double jeopardy prohibitions. When that prior offense also occurred before enactment of the habitual or amended habitual offender statute—the case here?

--the statute's use also violates prohibitions against ex post facto laws.

Habitual offender and enhancement statutes have been upheld against challenges similar to the one made here, as long ago as 1948, on the grounds that the enhanced sentence was based not on the prior offenses but on the offense pending for sentencing. See, e.g., Gryger v. Burke, 334 U.S. 728 (1948). There the Court explained:

The sentence as a fourth offender or habitual criminal is not to be viewed **as** either a new jeopardy or additional penalty for the earlier crimes. It is a stiffened penalty for the latest crimes. It is a stiffened penalty for the latest crime, which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a repetitive one.

Using the same reasoning, Florida's courts have also rejected challenges based on double jeopardy arguments. See generally, Reynolds v. Chochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1956); Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928). If the provisions in question were more concerned with repetition, the inquiry might end here. The only repetition on which this portion of the statute dwells, however, is the repetition of crime, not the repetition

²The date on which Petitioner committed the offense which was used as the "violent" felony was May 19, 1988, with his conviction for that crime on August 15, 1988.

of violent crime. Its focus on the <u>character</u> of the prior crime, without regard to the <u>nature</u> of the current offense, distinguishes Florida's habitual violent felony offender sentencing scheme from other enhanced sentencing provisions. This distinction is the point at which the amended statute runs afoul of constitutional double jeopardy clauses.

The First District Court of Appeal did not meaningfully address this distinction in Ross, supra, or in Perkins v.

State, 583 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev, pending, Case
Number 78,613. In Perkins, the Court rejected the same
arguments made here, on the authority of Washington, Cross, and
Reynolds, concluding that "the reasoning of these cases is equally applicable to this enactment." Id. at 1104. Perkins
thus left unaddressed the constitutional implications identified by Judge Zehmer in Henderson.

The amended statute also differs from recidivist schemes focused on repetition of a particular type of crime. In <u>U.S. v. Leonard</u>, **868** F.2d 1393 (5th Cir. 1989), enhancement of a sentence under a federal enhancement statute was upheld against an ex post facto attack. Leonard was convicted of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and sentenced under the Armed Career Criminal Act, which authorized increased punishment for that offense upon proof of conviction of three prior enumerated violent or drug felonies. <u>Id.</u> at 1394-1395. In contrast to the statute at issue here, the U.S. statute applied exclusively to persons convicted of a specific offense, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. In that respect, the defendant

was being punished primarily for the instant offense, as held by the court. Id. at 1400. The Florida provisions at issue focus not on any specific offense pending for sentencing, but on the character of a prior offense for classification purposes. Consequently, an offender subjected to the operation of S.775.084(b), Florida Statutes, is being punished more for the prior offense than for the current one. In effect, this is a second punishment for the prior offense, barred by the state and federal constitutions.

EX POST FACTO:

Chapter 88-131, which created the violent habitual felony offender statute, became effective October 1, 1988. [Section 9 of that Chapter.] The violent felony for which Petitioner was severely and doubly punished occurred on May 19, 1988, with judgment entered on August 15, 1988, or (with both dates) before the passage of the act that punished him.

An ex post facto violation occurs when a statutory change applies to events occurring before its enactment, and disadvantages the offender affected by it. Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987).

The application of this statute to Petitioner deprives him of the limit of the statutory maximum for his current offense, deprives him of eligibility for a guidelines sentence, and requires him to serve a mandatory minimum term. On its face, application of the statute to Petitioner creates an ex post facto violation prohibited by Miller.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the certified question should be answered in the affirmative in all three respects, the statute should be declared unconstitutional, and Petitioner's case should be remanded to the trial court for a guidelines sentence (perhaps a downward departure from the guidelines to reward Petitioner for the de-escalating pattern of his conduct and the trauma which he has suffered as a result of having been sentenced under an unconstitutional statute).