FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 21 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ARRICES MERRIWEATHER,

Petitioner

v. CASE NO.: 79,572

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLES T. FAIRCLOTH, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0238041

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL, AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Arrices Merriweather, defendant below, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred herein as either "Respondent" ok "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcripts of proceedings will be by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The record establishes that the petitioner has not properly preserved the issue presented in this brief. The issue presented by the petitioner was not raised in the trial court. Since the issue was not properly preserved and does not amount to fundamental error, this court should deny further review.

ISSUE 11: It is well settled law that habitual offender legislation is constitutional. Over the decades, it has withstood challenge after challenge. Petitioner's claims that habitual offender statute violates the due process clause, the prohibition against double jeopardy, and is ex post facto have been repeatedly rejected. His application of these long rejected arguments to the new habitual violent offender section fails to pump any validity into these tired old arguments. Therefore, this court should deny relief.

Petitioner's attempts to revitalize his argument by using certain principles of statutory construction to bolster his argument. His attempt to redefine the meaning of the statute must also be rejected. Petitioner's argument ignores the fundamental principle of statutory construction which is court must give unambiguous statutory language its plain meaning. Therefore, this court should deny petitioner the relief he requests.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A SENTENCING STATUTE MAY BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Petitioner has presented this court with an issue that was not properly preserved for review. Therefore this Court should dismiss the case on the ground that review was improvidently granted.

A. Jurisdictional Problems With Petitioner's Issue.

Totally absent from petitioner's attack upon the habitual violent felon statute is any reference to the manner in which this issue was raised in the trial court. Upon review of the record the reason for the omission becomes clear. Trial counsel did not challenge the constitutionality of the statute. Thus, the issue petitioner raises was not properly preserved and this court should decline to review it.

The State acknowledges that it did not raise the preservation issue in the First District. See State v. Wells, 539 So.2d 464, 468 n. 4 (Fla. 1989) (state waived issue of defendant's standing to assert privacy interest in luggage found

Defense counsel instead raised the issues of the proof of the prior convictions, the intent of the habitual offender statute, and the alleged lack of threat to others **posed** by the petitioner (R 266-269).

in car trunk and later searched, when defendant's standing was not raised at trial or on appeal), affirmed, 109 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990).

However, Petitioner's waiver through lack of preservation at trial has jurisdictional implications. In Davis v. State, 383 So.2d 620, 622 (Fla. 1980), this Court held that a defendant who pled nolo contendre without reservation of the constitutionality of a controlling statute was "clearly wrong in his effort to activate the [court's] jurisdiction." [\$.\$.] Therefore, the Petitioner here is equally wrong in activating this Court's jurisdiction through an issue not raised before the trial court. Any waiver by the State is immaterial, as subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred on the court by waiver or the parties' failure to object. Florida Nat'l Bank of Jacksonville v. Kassewitz, 25 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1946) (jurisdiction cannot be infused in the court through error or inadvertence by the parties). See Thomas v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2320, 2324 (Fla. 1st DCA Aug. 30, 1991) (Miner, J., dissenting) ("Since the absence of a contemporaneous objection renders the appellate court unable to address the alleged error, I believe it totally irrelevant whether or not the state raises the absence of a defense objection below in its answer brief.").

It is a settled rule of appellate review that "[e]xcept in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court. [citations omitted]." Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338

(Fla. 1982). Therefore, unless Petitioner can show fundamental error, he has not established a basis for this court to exercise its jurisdiction.

Fundamental Error

Petitioner's claims do not amount to fundamental error, thus, petitioner has not established a basis for this court to exercise its jurisdiction.

The meaning of "fundamental error" has been frequently addressed by the Florida Supreme Court and the various district In Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970), district. held t.he court. t.hat. а challenge to t.he constitutionality of a statute was cognizable on appeal as fundamental error even though the constitutionality of the statute had not been raised and preserved in the trial court. More specifically, the district court held a special act was unconstitutional because the title of the act did not fully reflect the contents of the act. This was contrary to Article 111, section 16 of the Florida Constitution of 1885 according to the court.

The Florida Supreme Court rejected the proposition that constitutionality of the statute was fundamental and could be raised for the first time on appeal. The court made two general points which deserve attention. First, "'[f]undamental error,' which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower

court, is error which goes to the foundation of the **case** or goes to the merits of the cause of action." Id. Second, an "Appellate Court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly." Id.

Sanford was a civil case. The same doctrine is applied to criminal cases. In Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 704 (Fla. 1978), in the context of jury reinstructions, the Court reaffirmed the rule that contemporaneous objections were required and rejected the argument that the error was fundamental, reiterating that the doctrine of fundamental error must remain a "limited exception." Id. The court also reaffirmed that the error must be so fundamental as to "amount to a denial of due process. State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1970)." Id., fn. 7.

The Supreme Court has consistently limited the scope of fundamental error. See Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1978) ("we have consistently held that even constitutional errors, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived unless timely raised in the trial court. Sanford.")

The Court was even more emphatic in Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981):

[F]or error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal, though not properly raised below, the error must amount to a denial of due process. Castor.

We agree with Judge Hubbart's observation that the doctrine of fundamental error should be only applied in the rare cases where where jurisdictional error appears orinterests of justice present a compelling demand for its application. Porter v. State, 356 So.2d (Hubbart, J., dissenting), 1268 (Fla. 3d **DCA**) 364 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1978), rev'd on remanded, remand, 376 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). Id.

The cases holding and applying the above are legion.

Representative cases include:

- (1) Ellis v. State, 74 Fla. 215, 76 So. 698 (1917) ("[I]t is suggested that the statute is unconstitutional. This question was not raised in the trial court, and, as the statute is not patently in conflict with organic law, the suggestion made in the brief do not properly present the validity of the law for consideration by this court", Id.
- (2) Silver v. State, 188 So.2d 300, 301 (Fla. 1966) (Court strongly criticizes and refuses to condone decision of

In Porter, the issue was whether an unobjected to comment on a defendant's exercise of his right to silence was fundamental error. The district court, J. Hubbart dissenting, originally held that it was but reversed itself after remand for reconsideration in light of Clark. The point for this Court to recognize is that the right to silence is unquestionably a fundamental constitutional right in the English language sense of "fundamental," but, in the context of an unobjected to error, "fundamental error" is a legal term-of-art of exceptionally narrow scope. See cases above and below. This Court should reject the ubiquitous tendency of contemporary defense lawyers to debase the legal, and English, language by seeing "fundamental error" everywhere.

district court to indulgently address constitutionality of statute where constitutionality not raised in trial court).

- (3) <u>Whitted v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 668, 672 (Fla. 1978) (Failure of defendant to raise constitutionality of statutory provision under which convicted precludes appellate review.)
- (4) <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 755, 757 (Fla. 1984) (Issue of constitutionality of statutory authority to override jury recommendation in death penalty case not cognizable for first time on appeal.)

The case of <u>Davis v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 620, 622 (Fla. 1980) is particularly instructive because it involved a nolo plea which purported to reserve the right to appeal the denial of motions to dismiss. On appeal, Davis challenged the constitutionality of the statute under which he was convicted. The Florida Supreme Court, relying on <u>Silver</u>, held there was no jurisdiction to consider the challenge:

In the case <u>sub judice</u> the defendant entered a plea of nolo contendere and did not reserve any right to raise the constitutional question on appeal. The statute was not attacked at the trial level. Defendant has exercised his right to one appeal. If he had desired to appeal to this Court, he only had to raise a constitutional question before the trial court and, in event of an unfavorable ruling, could have appealed directly to this Court. Not having followed this course, he is clearly wrong in his effort to activate the jurisdiction of this Court.

For the reason stated, jurisdiction is declined and the judgment of the circuit court is not disturbed.

Id. In this connection, see the rule of <u>Brown v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 382, 385 (Fla. 1979), that the reserved issue must be totally dispositive and that <u>the constitutionality of a controlling statute is an appropriate issue for reservation</u>, i.e. must be reserved.

The above haldings are also reflected in other court's case law. See State v. McInnes, 133 So.2d 581, 583 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961) ("It is fundamental that the constitutionality of a statute may not generally be considered on appeal unless the issue was raised and directly passed upon by the trial court."); Randi v. State, 182 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) (Constitutionality of statute may not be raised for first time on appeal).

It might be suggested that the above holdings apply only to the constitutionality of statutes under which a defendant is convicted and not to statutes under which he is sentenced. Such a suggestion would be ludicrous because it would illogically elevate sentencing issues to a position of supremacy over guilt issues. In any event, the courts have applied the same rule to sentencing statutes. See Gillman v. State, 346 So.2d 586, 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (Constitutionality of sentencing statute not cognizable when raised for first time on appeal). See, also, Knight v. State, 501 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (Ex post facto

and equal protection challenges to sentencing statutes not cognizable when raised for first time on appeal).

Applying the above law to the case at hand, it is uncontroverted that in the trial court appellant did not challenge the constitutionality of the statute. Pursuant to the case law above, the issue here is whether the constitutionality of the habitual violent offender statute is so fundamental a concern as to violate due process and to justify consideration of the issue although it was not raised below. The answer of absolutely not is quickly apparent to the reader of the extensive case law discussed above.

Due process takes two forms, substantive and procedural. Substantive due process requires only that there be a rational basis for the legislative enactment of the habitual offender statute. State v. Saiez, 489 So.2d 1125, 1129 (Fla. 1986); State v. Olson, 586 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). The rational basis for habitual offender statutes is that society requires greater protection from recidivists and sentencing as habitual felons provides greater protection. Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219, 223-224 (Fla. 1980).

Procedural due process has two components: reasonable notice and a fair opportunity to be heard. State v. Beasley, 580 So.2d 139 (Fla. 1991); Goodrich v. Thompson, 96 Fla. 327, 118 So. 60, 62 (1928). There can be no suggestion here that appellant

was not given reasonable notice and a fair opportunity to be heard. As the Florida Supreme Court said in, e.g., <u>Davis</u>, <u>383</u> So.2d at 622: "[H]e only had to raise a constitutional question before the trial court and, in the event of an unfavorable ruling, could have appealed directly to this Court. Not having followed this course, he is clearly wrong in his effort to activate the jurisdiction of this Court."

In addition to the doctrine of fundamental error/due process, the facial validity of a statute may be challenged for the first time on appeal. Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. This is also a very narrow exception to the rule that issues not raised in the trial court may not be raised on appeal. There are two aspects to the facial challenge: overbreadth and vagueness. Overbreadth only arises when the statute in question impinges on behavior protected by the first amendment to the United States Constitution and by Article I, §4 of the Florida Constitution. State v. Olson, 586 So.2d at 1243-1244. There can be no suggestion here that the statute somehow facially impinges on first amendment rights. The same conclusion applies to facially void-for-vagueness. Nothing in the statute would cause a person of common intelligence to guess at its meaning. event, Florida courts has repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of the statute against such challenges. See, e.g., Burdick v. State, 584 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), Perkins v. State, 583 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and cases cited therein.

Finally, respondent notes that there is no legal basis for petitioner's assertion of jurisdiction based on a claim that the sentence is illegal (IB 5). Respondent acknowledges that a defendant is statutorily authorized to appeal an "illegal sentence". However, the provision of section 924.06 Fla, Stat. which authorizes such an appeal applies to sentences facially exceed the statutory maximum sentence. Infante v. State, 197 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1967), Bouie v. State, 360 So.2d 1142 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978). In Gonzalez v. State, 392 So.2d 334 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), the court explained that challenges to sentences which exceed the authorized statutory maximum or are not authorized by statute can be raised for the first time on However, petitioner is not doing that for the statute authorizes the sentence he received. Petitioner is attempting to use the phrase "illegal sentence" to bootstrap his unpreserved challenge to the constitutionality of the statute. This is a claim relating to the application of the statute to the particular facts and circumstances of his case, not a claim that his sentence exceeded the penalty provided by statute. Therefore it would not be reviewable on direct appeal and certainly is not cognizable on discretionary review. Infante

Conclusion as to petitioner's issue

Applying the above law to the case at hand, it is uncontroverted that Petitioner did not raise, or otherwise preserve, the issue of whether the habitual violent felon

statute is constitutional. Pursuant to the case law above, the issue is whether the definition of "habitual violent felony offender" is fundamental, as to violate due process and to justify consideration of the issue although not raised below. Given the great latitude and deference accorded the Legislature in defining statutory terms, the answer "no" leaps out at the reader.

By failing to raise the jurisdictional issue before the trial court, Petitioner waived it. The State's failure to argue preservation before the First District, although embarrassing in hindsight, does not vitiate Petitioner's initial failure. Moreover, jurisdiction cannot be established through waiver. Since this Court accepted jurisdiction based on a non-preserved issue, this appeal must be dismissed outright.

If not dismissed, this Court should decline consideration an the merits. The State requests such; and strongly urges this Court to issue an opinion declaring that non-preserved, non-fundamental errors can not be the basis for appellate review.

ISSUE II

THE LOWER TRIBUNAL PROPERLY AFFIRMED THAT VIOLENT THE HABITUAL FELONY **OFFENDER** PROVISIONS OF SECTION **775.084 FLA.** MAY CONSTITUTIONALLY ENHANCE (1989)OF \mathbf{A} DEFENDANT WHOSE CURRENT OFFENSE IS NOT AN ENUMERATED VIOLENT FELONY (restated)

The first and foremost principle of statutory construction is that courts do not engage in statutory construction unless the statute is ambiguous. Bewick v. State, 501 So.2d 72 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); State v. Eqan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). The second principle is that you do not use statutory construction principles to create ambiguity. Eqan. Petitioner tries to do exactly that, and fails.

The Legislature has unambiguously defined the meanings of "habitual violent. felony of fender" and "habitual felony offender." See Fla. Stat. § 775.084(1)(a),(b) (1989). habitual violent felony offender is a currently convicted felon whose previous record includes one or more of eleven specified violent felonies for which the defendant was sentenced to or released from incarceration within five years of the current The distinction between a habitual violent felony offense. offender and a habitual felony offender is that habitual felony offender status requires two previous felony convictions, neither of which have to be for violent offenses. In other words, a previous violent felony counts as two nonviolent felonies when determining the appropriate habitual offender status, Because of

the Legislature's plenary authority in defining and punishing crime, there is no constitutional impediment to the legislature's It may require one prior felony, violent or definitions. otherwise, or two prior felonies, or three, or any other number, as the defining characteristics of "habitual." If it desired to do so it could extend the definition to include those individuals who commit multiple acts of violence in one criminal episode. definitions need These are not ambiquous SO they no clarification.

Petitioner's argument turns the principles of statutory construction on their head. Besides ignoring the legislative definition of Habitual Violent Felony Offender, petitioner mainly quarrels with how the legislature defined the term. Petitioner's basic problem is that he dislikes the threshold chosen by the legislature for the recidivist statute. Under our government with its separation of powers, see Chiles v. Children, 589 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1991), neither his disagreement nor even a court's disagreement as to the wisdom of the statute provides a basis for invalidation. Barnes v. B.K. Credit Service, 461 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Petitioner's attempts to distort the plain meaning of this section should be rejected.

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